








Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.




OVER LORD
[image: Image]

[image: Image]

THE FREE PRESS

Rockefeller Center

1230 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10020
www.SimonandSchuster.com

Copyright © 1995 by Thomas Alexander Hughes

All rights reserved, including the right of reproduction in whole of in part in any form.

THE FREE PRESS and design are trademarks of Macmillan Library Research USA, Inc. under license by Simon & Schuster, the publisher of this work.

Designed by

Manufactured in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Text design by Carla Bolte

Library of Congress Cataloging-In-Publication Data

Hughes, Thomas

Over lord: General Pete Quesada and the triumph of tactical air power in World War II/ Thomas Hughes.

p.   cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 0-7432-4783-3

eISBN 978-1-4391-1853-5

ISBN 978-0-0291-5351-2

1. Quesada, Elwood R. (Elwood Richard), 1904-  . 2. World War, 1939-1945—Campaigns—France—Normandy. 3. World War, 1939-1945—Aerial operations. 4. Normandy (France)—History. 5. Operation Overload. I. Title.

D756.5.N6H84   1995

940.54’214—dc20   95-13614

CIP

For information regarding the special discounts for bulk purchases, please contact Simon & Schuster Special Sales at 1-800-456-6798 or business@simonandschuster.com

For my parents KEVIN AND JOANNE

[image: Image]



Contents

[image: Image]

Preface

Introduction: History May Show They Saved the Day

1. Unusual, Offbeat Assignments

2. They Allowed Their Doctrine to Become Their Strategy

3. We All Learned a Hell of a Lot

4. All That I Can Do Is Far Short of That Which Is Required and Expected of Me

5. The Fighter Bomber Boys Are Doing More to Make This Campaign a Success Than Anyone Ever Anticipated

6. Remember That Our Work Is Really Just Starting

7. Our Most Recent Effort Seems to Have Fallen Short

8. My Fondness for Buck Rogers Devices Is Beginning to Pay Off

9. We Have Slowed Down Here and Nothing We Try Seems to Help

10. We Took a Bit of a Beating on the Ground But Boy Did We Dish It Out in the Air

11. There Was Great Arrogance in Victory

Notes

Selected Bibliography

Index




Preface

[image: Image]

THIS BOOK IS BOTH AN EFFORT TO RECOVER THE LOST MEMORY OF GENeral Elwood R. (Pete) Quesada s tactical innovations in World War II and an attempt to add insight to the modern-day debates on air policy in the Department of Defense. It uses Quesada’s career to trace the development of tactical aviation, or the close support of ground troops, in World War II. Part biography, part campaign history, and part combat analysis, it recounts how tactical air doctrine grew from battlefield experience. It also seeks to understand the limits of tactical air power, especially as they manifested themselves during the stalemated campaign of autumn 1944.

This work cuts across traditional conceptions of World War II and raises important questions about twentieth-century warfare. Most World War II biographies either portray senior leaders in the last years of their careers or they look back at junior officers who went on to achieve great things after the war. The effect is to present the conflict as the culmination of an era or the start of a new epoch. Through the eyes of a midlevel command general like Quesada, however, the war seems less like an end or a beginning and more like a transition. As both an old and a new war, World War II can provide important i n sight into the interplay between doctrine and strategy, and their combined influence on tactics; on the role of technology in war; on battlefield innovation; and on the sociology and psychology of tactical command.

What follows is a lost story of American tactical air power in World War II and Pete Quesada’s place in that story. It is a story as pertinent to the Army and Air Force today as it was for the flyers and soldiers of yesterday.

I incurred debts I cannot repay while working on this book. A dissertation-year fellowship from the Office of Air Force History, an advanced-research support grant from the Army Military History Institute, and a post-doctoral fellowship from The Ohio State University allowed me to pursue this topic for three years. Herbert Pankratz at the Eisenhower Library, Wilbert Mahoney and Timothy Nenninger at the National Archives, Archie DiFante at the Air Force Historical Research Center, and David Keogh and Richard Summers at the Army War College deserve special praise for their insight and help. Along the corridors of all these archives, Sharron Graves became my great friend and my noble research assistant. She typed letters, took notes, tracked expenses, and supported my temperamental ego. I thank her for all that, and for only those things she and I can know.

At the University of Houston, Professors James H. Jones, Carl Ittman, Frank L. Holt, and Arthur Stemmermann read all or parts of the manuscript and offered keen suggestions. Professor James Kirby Martin did all this and more; his enthusiasm for my work kept me going when I felt like quitting. Professor Joseph T. Glatthaar directed this project as a dissertation, and his hand is everywhere in it. From start to finish, he has been a perfect mentor.

At The Free Press, Joyce Seltzer and then Bruce Nichols, Norah Vincent, and Bob Harrington made this book possible.

In addition to this scholarly help, General Quesada himself granted me a number of interviews. So did hundreds of war veterans of every rank and branch of service. Together, these men in the twilight of their lives helped me to flesh out a complicated and subtle story. After Quesada died, his wife Kate Davis and his son Peter extended to me every imaginable kindness and trust. For that I am forever grateful.

This book is for my Mom and Dad. Kevin and Joanne Hughes have been my steadfast supporters for thirty years. At every point along the way, they have been everything parents could and should be. I have tried to make them proud of each word, each sentence, each paragraph, and each chapter. Although the mistakes in this book are mine alone, my parents are responsible for any merit it may have.

T.A.H.
 Columbus, Ohio
 Houston, Texas

OVER LORD

[image: Image]


Introduction History May Show They Saved the Day
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Thomas Gray, 1737 The time will come when thou shalt lift thine eyes To long-drawn battles in the skies, While aged peasants, too amazed for words, Stare at the flying fleets of wondrous birds.



SOUTHWICK HOUSE, PORTSMOUTH, ENGLAND. 3 JUNE 1944. 2030 HOURS. Major General Elwood R. “Pete” Quesada slumped in the staff car, wishing he were already back at IX Fighter Command headquarters at Middle Wallop. As his driver pulled away from the Allied command center, his aide-de-camp noted a difference in the general; normally well-groomed and almost fastidious about his appearance, he now looked frazzled and tired. A youthful forty, Quesada was the product of Chief of Staff George Marshall’s determination to raise able and vigorous officers from the junior ranks early in the war. But months of feverish preparations had taken a toll on even his stamina, and he shouldered a large burden this spring night. In just days, he and his 1,500 fighter planes would provide air support for the American soldiers of Operation OVERLORD, the long-awaited invasion of Europe. Now only the uncertain path of storm clouds could derail a million men from their appointed tasks. At Southwick House, Allied Commander Dwight Eisenhower had just solicited Quesada’s counsel about the weather, and motoring through the blacked-out night of wartime England, Quesada did not envy the burden and isolation of the Supreme Command. “It’s entirely in Ike’s hands,” he thought.1

It was a lousy, chilly evening. Quesada bound his jacket closer. The driver, the aide, and the general did not speak. Their silence was broken only by sentries at innumerable checkpoints. Even those disruptions faded from Quesada’s mind, and soon he was sleeping.

That was just as well, his aide thought. The endless days of meetings, maneuvers, and planning sessions that stretched back into 1943 were over. There was nothing left to do but wait for Eisenhower’s decision. Even then, if all went according to plan, Quesada would be a mere spectator in the show. Now, in early June, Allied fate no longer rested in the hands of generals, admirals, and marshals. By now, D-Day was the responsibility of rifle brigades, assault battalions, naval gunnery crews, and pilots. Indeed, only an emergency would make Quesada change the plans for the close air support of American soldiers. Across the Channel the rigors of field command awaited him, and what Quesada needed most was rest.

When the car finally lurched to a stop at his headquarters in the village of Middle Wallop, he checked the weather forecast, wrote to his mother that when the time came “nobody will be able to say we weren’t in the thick of things,” and went to bed, sleeping the good sleep.2

In the morning, Eisenhower postponed the assault for at least twenty-four hours. At Middle Wallop, Quesada filled the day with last-minute preparations. He talked to aides serving as senior air controllers on ships already afloat beyond the white cliffs of Dover. He checked with subordinates at Uxbridge, the Allied Combined Air Control Center south of London. He conducted inspections of airfield construction teams and communications squadrons bound for Normandy on D-Day. He restricted all personnel at his eleven airstrips. To facilitate identification, his ground crews painted white stripes on P-38, P-47, and P-51 fighters.3

Eisenhower’s delay increased the discomfort of nearly 100,000 infantry troops crowded aboard landing craft. The waiting greatly increased their mental and physical strain. Some played cards incessantly or chatted quietly. Many simply lay in their bunks and hammocks, gazing into the air.

Quesada thought mainly of them, the ground forces, on this day of delay. Weeks of air strikes against Nazi-occupied French rail and roadways, beach defenses, and marshaling yards were important, he knew, “but it was preliminary. If we failed now the army might fail.” One of his representatives at Uxbridge, Colonel James Ferguson, noticed the strain on Quesada’s face. “He was really on pins and needles.” So were others. Aboard his command ship, the cruiser USS Augusta, First Army Commander Omar Bradley paced restlessly, a prisoner of a dark and windy day. Inevitably, the delay drained optimism from the hearts of the men, and even Eisenhower drafted a message announcing the invasion’s failure—just in case.4

The attack was not postponed again. On 5 June the Supreme Commander committed to an invasion early the next day. Like most who knew the operation was going forward, Quesada retired early that night. He was up at 0230 hours, traveling to Uxbridge hours before the first Americans waded onto the Continent. Above, the skies of southern England filled with a thousand C-47s carrying airborne troops to France. Everywhere people awoke to the planes’ thunder. Near Ashford, pilot William Dunn lay in bed and listened to the drone. At the 366th Fighter Group outside Thruxton, Group Commander Colonel Harold Holt interrupted his own briefing to watch the planes pass overhead. “There are thousands of them,” he mused. “Our own lads—the first ones over.” To one staffer at Middle Wallop, the black sky became a “carnival, a melange of colored lights, a giant brilliant Christmas tree.” On the road to Uxbridge, Quesada also watched the planes. The entire machinery of the attack was now inexorably pledged.5

Quesada jumped from his car as it wheeled into the Uxbridge compound. Of all the command centers for D-Day, Uxbridge was perhaps the most important. Used by the Royal Air Force since the early days of the war, it had been the nerve center for fighter control during the Battle of Britain. For D-Day, most pilots had carefully scheduled missions, but from here Allied leaders could swiftly change the plans of some five thousand planes if the need arose. Befitting its value, the Uxbridge operations room was deep in the bowels of the earth, safe from even the most direct bombing.

Quesada went down eighty-seven steps, through two sets of steel doors, past a whole company of military police, through another steel door, past one final sentry, and at last into a huge room. For a moment the bright lights blinded him. A thirty-foot square table map dominated the space. Everywhere people moved in all directions, like tiny cogs in a vast machine. Radar operators, their eyes glued to a bank of oscilloscopes, reported aircraft positions to Royal Air Force WAAFs, who in turned moved symbols about the map to reflect the tactical situation. Sector operators and flight controllers viewed the whole panorama from an elevated balcony, and issued the actual movement orders for the attack.

The place was teeming with Allied top brass. Eisenhower and the senior air and sea commanders were there. In just a few hours, Chief of the Imperial Staff Sir Alan Brooke and Prime Minister Winston Churchill would arrive. On this day, it was nothing to be a mere general in that room.6

Reaching the IX Fighter Command desk along the balcony, Quesada greeted Ferguson and his other senior controller, Colonel Jim Howard. They were all nervous. Quesada gulped coffee and smoked cigars in a feeble attempt to while away the time. Watching the small ship symbols move closer to France on the map, he was surprised to see no real signs of German air activity. Navies are most vulnerable to air attack at the peak of amphibious operations, when they are not free to take evasive action, and over 500 of Quesada’s planes—and hundreds of others—were covering the armada. It was a good omen that the Luftwaffe did not challenge them.7

Nothing much had changed when the first troops hit the shores around 0600 hours. As it turned out, the Allies enjoyed an overwhelming air superiority on 6 June. The German Luftwaffe managed less than 200 aerial forays against over 15,000 Anglo-American sorties. “For all the air that ventured out against us on the Channel,” General Omar Bradley remembered, the vast air-control room on his command ship “might better have been converted into a pool hall.”8

Most of the other operations along the Normandy coast also portended well for the Allies. Despite the presence of an elite Panzer division in the area, British Commonwealth forces stormed ashore on three beaches with limited difficulty. They fell short of important D-Day objectives, but by nightfall they had a secure foothold, which in places extended inland five miles. Their leader, Field Marshal Bernard Montgomery, judged the day a success.

The story was similar at UTAH, the westernmost U.S. beach. There, an attack by 360 medium bombers greatly assisted the invaders. The air strike wiped out entire German units before Americans even stepped from their landing craft. In one sector, the defenders had but a single 88mm gun, an old Renault tank turret dug into the sands, and a handful of machine guns by the time the aerial blitz ended. Seizing such an advantage, the U.S. Fourth Division landed 23,000 men at a cost of under 200 casualties. As the day passed, a combination of effective naval gunfire, aerial bombardment, and swift infantry movements overwhelmed the sparse defenders, who had expected an assault to the north near Calais. With few exceptions, here and in the British zone the landings had been a remarkable piece of good fortune and good judgment.9

It was very different with OMAHA, the American beach landing between UTAH and Montgomery’s men. There, where two thirds of the U.S. D-Day effort was concentrated, the First and Twenty-ninth Divisions were enduring ten times as many losses as the Fourth, and very many times their fear and confusion. Before the first men set foot on the beach, over a thousand heavy bombers with 6,000,000 pounds of bombs had blasted the coast. But these pilots were unaccustomed to their task and were bombing through a thick cloud cover. Predictably, most of them missed their targets by as much as three miles. The effort disgusted Twenty-ninth Division commander Charles Gerhardt. “Very few of the bombs fell on the beach or the fortifications commanding it,” he complained. Gerhardt’s boss at V Corps, Major General Leonard Gerow, added that “the failure cost heavily in men and material.” On top of the poor air show, naval guns were ineffective in blasting enemy batteries perched on cliffs overlooking the shore. As a result, when Allied landing craft crawled onto Omaha Beach, many German strong-points remained unscratched.10

Not that anyone had to tell that to the attackers. The heavy surf played havoc with them. The sea swallowed the entire field artillery battalion of the Twenty-ninth Division. Of the first fifty-five tanks headed to shore, only five reached solid ground. The sea fouled rifles and pistols and compelled many soldiers to discard their equipment or drown. Once out of the water, many men fell easy prey to a hail of machine-gun fire.11

Army Ranger Mike Rehm and his ten men were among the first to land. Two of them were killed and three wounded in the first hundred yards of advance. Within sixty minutes, two thirds of his entire Ranger company were casualties. A survivor believed that the “invasion had been a failure.” By midday some German officers agreed with this hapless soul when they reported that the invasion had been stopped on the beaches. For the few fortunate Americans who reached the relative safety of brush beyond the sand, the unexpected presence of a German attack division created yet another predicament.12

All this was unknown to Pete Quesada at Uxbridge in the early hours of D-Day, but his own men in the assault waves knew of the turmoil soon enough. Air-support liaison officers, slated to direct air missions, landed right behind the first infantry troops. One of them remembered groping to the shore from eight feet of water only to be greeted by “burning tanks, jeeps, abandoned vehicles, a terrific crossfire.” By dusk his unit had suffered eight killed and thirty-five wounded, and had lost twenty-eight of its thirty-five vehicles.13

Colonel Blair Garland, IX Fighter Command’s signals officer and a key Quesada subordinate, reached the coast with two truck-mounted radars and radios. The equipment was immediately knocked out and a British wing commander with him was wounded. His little band of warriors then sought refuge in a beach draw and waited for a backup radar set. It arrived, but its dish was ruined and most of the men badly shot up. “Scared green” and with no equipment, Garland could do nothing but stay in the draw all day and into the night.14

Elsewhere, Sergeant Andy Hertz and the 922nd Aviation Engineer Regiment battled ashore at about noon, ready to construct an emergency landing strip on the high ground behind the beach. Almost immediately, a desperate beachmaster ran up to him. “Who are you people?” Engineers, Hertz replied. “Good, we’ve got wires to clear. You got bangalores?” No, Hertz said, his men were aviation engineers. “Who the hell sent you in?” the beach master barked. “Some sonofabitch,” Hertz shrugged. So he and his men took refuge with other stranded Americans, hiding behind what shelter the flat sandy terrain offered.15

Whatever else was certain, there could be few aircraft directed by American soldiers from Omaha Beach that morning, and no advance landing grounds to service Quesada’s fighter planes. Already, the commander of the 101st Airborne Division, who had parachuted into Normandy before dawn, felt the pinch of ineffective air support. “Air-ground cooperation,” he remembered, “produced virtually nothing in support of this Division.”16

As these small dramas of humanity played out, Pete Quesada and other commanders grew anxious. On the cruiser Augusta, Omar Bradley’s “worries deepened over the alarming and fragmentary reports we picked up … we could piece together only an incoherent account of sinkings, swampings, heavy enemy fire, and chaos on the beaches.” By midmorning, Gerow’s V Corps staff on the USS Ancon was in dismay, and one officer who had raced closer to the shore in a PT boat told of landing craft ranging about aimlessly like a “stampeding herd of cattle.” The situation was desperate at 1200 hours. As General Heubner of the First Division succinctly explained it, “those goddamm Boche just won’t stop fighting.”17

At that point, Bernard Montgomery and Omar Bradley seriously considered diverting all subsequent OMAHA landings to other beaches, in effect abandoning OMAHA and throwing the entire Allied plan to the winds. Some, like Bradley’s chief of staff Bill Kean, were somewhat calmer, though even he urgently demanded “some air support to help clear the beaches.” Back at Uxbridge, radar operators, WAAFs, flight controllers and generals alike struggled to make any sense of the disjointed messages from the far shore. By midday the only certainty was that the OMAHA landings were in immediate danger of failure.18

Like others, Pete Quesada searched for ways to alleviate the crisis. He tried to redirect planes. He ordered aircraft already above the convoys to range over the beaches and attack any target that may appear. He sent messages repeatedly to Blair Garland on the beach. But these efforts and more were in vain. The elaborate signals plan to direct air support had, by then, collapsed under what the German war philosopher Karl von Clausewitz once called “the fog of war.” Well over half the American air liaison parties on Omaha Beach were now knocked out. There was precious little radio contact between the support parties ashore and their comrades afloat. The communications net, which had called for a series of relay points stretching from the beach to fighter-direction tenders offshore, to headquarters ships, and finally to the Combined Control Center at Uxbridge, was too cumbersome for the fast-paced battle.19

The vaunted efficiency of Uxbridge broke down under the weight of confusion. What pleas were received for air support only served to exacerbate a massive communications gridlock. At one point, it took a general on the Augusta thirty minutes just to contact Uxbridge, much less get approval for any missions. To one observer, the center’s performance was “entirely inexcusable.” For any company commander on the beach who needed fighters overhead quickly, the multistage signals net meant only frustration—and sometimes death.20

By 1315 hours Pete Quesada had had enough. Never one to enjoy a spectator’s role, he believed that the situation demanded extraordinary action. After a fifteen-minute conference with his immediate boss, Ninth Air Force commander Lewis Brereton, he shifted his 1,500 planes from the Uxbridge communications net to his smaller yet more efficient signals setup at Middle Wallop. Before D-Day he and Blair Garland, his signals officer presently stuck on the beach, had developed an alternative communications scheme for close support once the Allies were firmly on the Continent. This net originated at Middle Wallop and ran directly to giant radio towers on the Isle of Wight, where direct contact was possible with headquarters ships, fighter-direction tenders, air officers on the far shore, and even individual pilots in the air. Racing back from Uxbridge to Middle Wallop, he delegated full command prerogatives to Colonels Lorry Tindal and John Taylor on headquarters ships, streamlining the system even further. He then placed his four reserve fighter groups on operational alert, ready to fly at ten minutes’ notice. Meanwhile, back at Uxbridge, air officers of the British forces were making similar adjustments in their own chain of command.21

Quesada did all this with some trepidation. He believed that war was “nothing more than organized chaos and switching gears in mid-stream always gives the chaos an edge over the organization.” But he had no other option. The massive maneuver that was D-Day had been choreographed to the last detail, and communications were the sinews that bound the complex campaign together. Without communications, the assault would surely fail. Already, the Americans were learning a fundamental lesson of the war that awaited them on the far shore. Bulky command channels were poorly suited to support a fluid ground battle. Such systems were fine for planned long-range bomber missions deep into Germany, which were just the kind of operations that had marked the air war up to D-Day. But the close-air-support war now dawning in Normandy would require new arrangements, sometimes new assumptions of command, certainly different doctrinal foundations, and probably distinct equipment and resources. In short, battle leaders would have to develop an entirely new method of air war.22

At the 358th Fighter Group, Quesada’s operational alert caught Captain Robert Biggers munching a sandwich. Rushing to his P-47 Thunderbolt, he and fifteen others taxied their planes to the end of the runway, ready for immediate takeoff. “During our rotations we sat in our aircraft ready to go, feeling an excitement we could not explain. Conjecture was all we had.” Biggers and others did not wait long for action. In mid-afternoon his squadron scrambled to Isigny, three miles behind Omaha Beach. There, part of the German Sixth Parachute Regiment was moving toward the estuaries between Utah and Omaha Beaches. Biggers and his flyers stopped more than four fifths of those defenders dead in their tracks.23

An hour later the Eighty-second Airborne Division, which had dropped near Ste. Mère Église before dawn, pressed Middle Wallop for help repelling a counter attack by Hitler’s 243d Division. At the 366th Group, Colonel Harry Holt gunned his plane down the runway and into the air. Over the English Channel, his pilots were mesmerized by the thousands of ships below. Landing craft were spewing men at an astonishing rate, Holt remembered, “scattering like kids from school.” In a way, the invasion took on a surreal quality from 20,000 feet; it was distant and somehow disconnected from the pilots. But the crackling radio jolted the flyers’ attention back to their mission. Searching an area west of Ste. Mère Église, they failed to locate the Germans arrayed against the paratroops. A call back to Colonel Lorry Tindal on the Ancon did not help, and the controller feebly told Holt to “seek out targets of opportunity.”24

Splitting into groups of four, the Thunderbolts fell to 2,000 feet and scoured the lush Norman terrain. They saw nothing until a bank of hedgerows spit tracer ammunition skyward. Still unable to see specific targets, the entire squadron merely sprayed the hedgerows with cannon and machine-gun fire until “no more tracers came out.” Satisfied and low on fuel, Holt pointed his pilots home. This aid from the air helped the Eighty-second Division consolidate its position and added to German confusion as the Allies pushed ashore.25

So it went late on D-Day. All together, the Middle Wallop signal net directed six missions as night drew near. Squadrons from the 368th Group raided gun positions in the vicinity of Colleville that had pinned Americans down for hours. Later, fighter-bombers attacked German elements near Trévières, directly behind the heart of OMAHA, where the German 352nd Division was rushing to the beachhead.26

Meanwhile, medium and heavy bombers, which were not under Quesada’s command, steadily pounded transportation centers farther inland from the beaches in a bid to cut off German reinforcements from the battle. Missions to Caen, St. Lô, Argentan, and Granville rained a million pounds of explosives on the defenders. Pound for pound less effective than Quesada’s fighter-bomber efforts, the sheer weight of these attacks nonetheless slowed German movements into the coastal plain. As the sun set, only one bridge remained intact over the Orne, derailing the counterattack of the crack Twenty-first Panzer Division. On the American side, engineers at last managed to carve a 2,000-foot emergency airstrip from the grassland behind UTAH. All in all, at dusk the situation was markedly better than it had been just twelve hours before.27

Yet the danger had not passed. Late in the day the German commander, Gerd von Rundstedt, won Hitler’s permission to commit two more Panzer divisions to the fray. Even more menacing, a huge traffic jam in the English Channel was already preventing any Allied reinforcements from reaching the beach in good time. Although the Anglo-Americans could count on supporting naval gunfire throughout the night, the ragged coastline in effect was shielding many German strongpoints, making the floating batteries relatively ineffective. The men of OMAHA badly needed twenty-four hours to consolidate their position before the German reinforcements arrived, and now air power seemed the only asset that might buy enough time for the doughboys huddled on the sand.28

Quesada survived on a few meager moments of rest that night. Up before dawn on 7 June, he again placed fighter groups on tactical alert. At first light Thunderbolts roared into the English sky and pointed toward the French coast. But for the second straight day cloud cover aided the Germans. Relying less and less on the signals net, Quesada directed most squadron leaders to duck underneath the soup and seek targets of opportunity. Missions to Cérisy and Balleroy forests trapped German reinforcements of armor. Another raid dismantled three troublesome gun positions near Maisy. In one of only two missions directed by a forward controller, planes from the 365th Group knocked out a battery holding up U.S. Rangers just thirteen minutes after their initial call for help. For the fighter-bombers, it had been a masterful day.29

Together, Quesada’s fighter pilots sortied 1,742 times in direct support of the ground forces on 7 June, bringing their two-day total to 3,303 sorties. Collectively, they destroyed eight bridges and forty-two vehicles. They damaged, bombed, or strafed countless German columns moving toward the sea. At times, the air was literally choked with Quesada’s planes. One pilot felt as if he “had to put his hand out to make a turn.” Such effort was not without cost, of course, but the thirteen aircraft lost and Lieutenant Joe Miller’s crash landing near Grandcamp seemed a small price to pay. In total, the casualty rate among Allied air forces for the two days was less than 1 percent.30

When darkness came once again to Normandy, OMAHA was no longer in immediate danger. Still far short of D-Day objectives and facing yet more toil and death, its soldiers nevertheless ceased to worry about utter failure. There was even light banter on Bradley’s command ship Augusta. “Things were sticky,” the Army commander admitted, “but they are clearing up.” The next day he reported to Eisenhower that “everything is well in hand,” although he confided to another that “someday I’ll tell General Ike just how close it was.” Back at Middle Wallop, Quesada surveyed the day’s work and was pleased. He would go to Omaha Beach himself early the next morning.31

Others were happy with Quesada’s planes, too. Bradley believed that “the fighter-bomber operations against road traffic played a major part in the success of the invasion.” From UTAH, VII Corps commander J. Lawton Collins reported that fighter-bombers “reduced almost to zero enemy air attacks on the beaches.” On Omaha Beach, V Corps’ Gerow said that Quesada had delivered “the most beneficial effects of air support.” On the shore itself, soldiers busy ducking Germans cheered their friends in the air.32

Hitler’s men had a different perspective, but agreed that Allied air power was crucial to the invasion’s success. Germans marching toward the invasion area quickly learned to move with eyes turned skyward, and one Panzer commander described highways to the Allied beaches as “Jabo Rennstrecke” (fighter-bomber race courses). The efficiency with which Quesada’s planes attacked soon ruined German defense schemes. “Our predetermined battle plan is to a great extent eliminated because of the enemy’s great control of the air,” recounted one report to the high command in Berlin. Von Rundstedt felt that heavy bomber attacks were “decidedly disagreeable,” and thought that fighter raids had “critically delayed” his reinforcements at the precise moment his beach defenses were crumbling. With timely replacements, he believed, OMAHA might have been a great victory for the Third Reich. As it was, the Allied success along the Norman coast was “all a question of air force, air force, and again air force.”33

Quesada had ample reason to smile, then, when he awoke on 8 June. The close air support of his pilots had combined with naval fire and truly heroic close-order combat on the beaches to save OMAHA. Given the difficulties that the Americans had suffered against the defenders, it is hard to imagine that they could have bested them at all had they been without exceptional air support. On this, the third day of OVERLORD, the Allies were finally firmly ashore—though they were still gasping to regain their breath after the vast strain of getting there.

That evening Quesada wired congratulations and praise to his fighter-bomber groups. “The spirit with which these groups accepted and performed their mission reflects great credit to them and I am most grateful for their efforts. It is possible if not probable that their efforts were in large part responsible for the attack on Omaha Beach continuing. History may show they saved the day.”34

If Quesada’s words reflected the typical hyperbole of such communiqués, they revealed also the fervent promise of D-Day. Until then, airmen assigned to support ground forces had been weak cousins to the glamorous bomber pilots winging deep into Germany on strategic raids. Now, however, it seemed that the war in France and Germany would put a high premium on close air support of the doughboys. Perhaps at last the men of the tactical air forces would receive their due.

Instead, history quickly and easily forgot the contributions of Pete Quesada and others associated with tactical air power in World War II. In the decades since the war, the strategic efforts of American bombers above Germany and Japan became legendary while the achievements of this “other air war” faded into obscurity, even though the close air support of ground forces did indeed constitute an increasingly important element of Allied victory in North Africa, Italy, and France. At the end of the war, most commanders acknowledged the critical part that air power had played in land campaigns from the Sahara to the Rhineland. But soon after the fighting stopped, the newly independent U.S. Air Force stressed strategic bombardment at the expense of tactical accomplishments in an effort to carve a role for air power in the nuclear age. As Air Force leaders let their tactical aviation wither, the ground Army was forced to develop its own air arm. By the 1950s, the result was a duplication of weapon systems and a dichotomy of air-power doctrine in the armed forces.

This in turn profoundly influenced the American military experience in the Korean and Vietnam Wars. Neither of these conflicts became the swift nuclear holocausts envisioned by the Air Force, and both placed a premium on the more conventional role of close air support. But by then Army and Air Force officers had very different capabilities, and worked within very different systems, to assist ground troops from the air. On these two Asian peninsulas, confusion was often the only common denominator, and unnecessary American blood on the ground was often the only result.

Today, after the Cold War, officers of all branches are once again struggling to reconstruct their services, searching for the right relationship of strategic and tactical deterrents. In their endeavor, they would do well to remember the lessons of World War II and the policy choices made following that seminal event.

Quesada’s story has its roots in the Great War. World War I lasted long enough to promise many things for military aviation, but it ended too soon to fulfill any single hope. Aerial dogfighting dominated the struggle in the air until bombing operations late in the war convinced many pilots that bombardment was the way of the future. As a result, before World War II air enthusiasts theorized that bombing could destroy an adversary’s war-making potential and terrorize its citizenry into submission on its own, without ground or sea warfare. American pilots, under the control of the Army, pushed this independent-strategic-bombardment theory in part because they truly believed in the new doctrine. But they also hoped it would give them autonomy, independent of the ground generals.

The General Staff, on the other hand, remained skeptical of such notions throughout the 1920s and 1930s. In time, the relationships between ground and air advocates became strained to the breaking point. In acrimonious disputes, flyers stood steadfast against what they saw as a Civil War-bound and orthodox Army moving backward into the future. The charge was partly accurate, yet it was ironic that the assumptions of the airmen were far more conservative than those of the General Staff. After all, the tenets of strategic air power rested on coercion and terror, and these are among war’s oldest stratagems.

This bitter Army infighting colored every aspect of the Air Corps before World War II, including its theory and practice of close air support. The wartime air chief, General Henry “Hap” Arnold, once complained that the “very word ‘support’ always makes people think of air power as an ancillary weapon of the Army or the Navy.” Because it did not advance the cause of an independent Air Force, pilots neglected this “tactical” aviation in the years before Pearl Harbor. At the outset of the Second World War, Arnold placed close air support sixth on a list of the top ten air tasks demanded by the war. No detailed tactical doctrine even existed until well into the conflict. There were few tactical planes, and up to that point there had been few joint exercises using both air and ground forces. What the U.S. Army Air Corps did have, however, was an articulated theory of bombardment and the big planes to accomplish it.35

Then the real war got in the way of the flyers’ dreams. The conflict’s first major land campaign in North Africa was poorly suited for strategic air operations. No basic bombardment theories applied in the desert. There was no enemy civilian population to bomb, and no intricate supply lines or vast industries to destroy. When early fighting in Tunisia went poorly for the Americans, most war leaders at last concluded that there was a need for air operations coordinated with those of ground units. Within six months, a makeshift tactical doctrine emerged. When the Allies left the Mediterranean for Britain to prepare for the invasion of France, the United States had at least the foundations of a tactical air force.

Meanwhile, in England, the mighty and strategic Eighth Air Force had struggled with the vaunted notions of bombardment since shortly after Pearl Harbor. Its B-17 Flying Fortresses had proved more vulnerable to enemy flak and planes than the theorists had guessed. German industry had weathered aerial onslaughts remarkably well, and the people of Germany were more resilient in the face of air terror than the Allies had imagined they would be.

All this revealed that the big-bomber enthusiasts had committed a grave error: they had presumed that, in war, all people under all political systems will employ rational and universal logic to choose whether or not to fight. The truth can run to the contrary. What one population under democratic rule is willing to endure in war might be very different from what another population under a totalitarian regime can absorb, especially when its national survival is at stake. Even if strategic bombardment could have delivered all it promised in World War II, it is doubtful whether Adolf Hitler would have chosen to surrender and save the Third Reich from utter destruction. The Allies would still have been forced to invade occupied Europe.

At the outset of 1944, then, it was clear that strategic bombing alone would not end the war any time soon. The Americans needed large-scale tactical aviation and Hap Arnold finally directed his staff to “do anything and everything necessary to help the ground forces.” By the Normandy invasion in June 1944 the largest numbered air force in the world was a purely tactical one. Even the strategic air forces became more tactical. The Eighth Air Force, for example, committed 84 percent of its missions to the ground assault in the weeks surrounding D-Day. For the rest of the war, only 34 percent of its sorties would be against classic strategic targets. By the Army Air Force’s own estimation, just 24 percent of its entire wartime resources had been dedicated to strategic operations by 1945.36

Indeed, tactical operations were central to the air war in the last years of combat. Most American air forces engaged in them. The Fifth Air Force supported ground troops in Southeast Asia, the Tenth Air Force did so in the India-Burma theater, and both the Ninth Air Force in England and the Twelfth Air Force in Italy played important roles in the European ground war. Among the traditional strategic air forces, the Eighth Air Force in England and the Fifteenth Air Force in Italy regularly carried out tactical missions in addition to long-range bombardment. Only one, the Twentieth Air Force scattered throughout the Pacific, was committed solely to strategic operations. Even there, geography rather then the integrity of big-bomber theory compelled that strategy, for there could not be any major land campaigns to support in the middle of an ocean.

When the war ended, the outstanding lesson of the air conflict was clear. Warfare had muddied the distinctions between tactical and strategic air power. They may have had separate identities in peacetime, but the pressure of war inexorably molded them, as it does all forces, into a single weapon. In the words of one officer on the eve of D-Day, “forgotten now were differences between strategic and tactical, between ground and air, between Army and Navy, between Americans and their Allies. All were welded into one compact, devastating fist, set to deliver the Sunday punch.”37

In the immediate postwar world these lessons governed military organization. In 1946, the Army Air Forces established a Tactical Air Command (TAC), equal in size and prestige to its Strategic Air Command (SAC). The next year, leading air officers promised to provide adequate close air support for ground forces if the Army would agree to the creation of a separate Air Force. And after the airmen finally won their coveted independence, pilots did indeed provide air support for the Army.

But this cooperation evaporated as the contours of the Cold War emerged in the late 1940s. A new emphasis on nuclear weapons and strategic deterrence combined with a shrinking defense budget to intensify competition for funding among the Army, Navy, and Air Force. As Air Force bombers were then the only way to carry nuclear warheads, the Strategic Air Command became more important and gained influential supporters in and out of the Air Force. The Tactical Air Command, on the other hand, shrank until it became a mere paper headquarters. In this way, Air Force leaders abdicated to the Army their responsibility to provide air support, forcing the ground leaders to establish their own air fleets, first of planes and later of helicopters.

By 1950, the structure of America’s armed forces bore little resemblance to the paradigm established during World War II. The lessons of integrated and combined operations were lost. By then, too, the equipment and planes for close support were obsolete and had not been replaced. Perhaps worst of all, as the men of the tactical-air war retired or re-entered civilian life, the human expertise of tactical aviation left the Army and Air Force altogether. Very little tactical capacity and experience remained at the beginning of the Korean War. There, as well as in Vietnam and beyond, men paid in blood for the lack of efficient and adequate close air support.

In retrospect 1947 to 1949 were the critical years, the time when the lessons of World War II were lost. Memories of the war, so clear immediately after it ended, were now conditioned by atomic weapons and the Cold War. As is often the case, by 1950 memory had more to do with the present than the past.38
  More than any other American general, Elwood “Pete” Quesada personified the rise and fall of tactical air power in the years before and after World War II. Born in 1904, he entered the Army as a private in 1924, earned his wings in 1925, and won a commission in 1926. He spent the bulk of his prewar service in nonoperational billets, often as aide or flying officer to senior officers or government officials. He learned about strategic bombardment theory at the Air Corps Tactical School, but his prewar service prevented him from adopting any single view of warfare. As a result, he went to North Africa in early 1943 with an open mind. He was a new and young brigadier general eager to learn.

The desert taught Quesada a great deal about warfare and combat leadership. When he arrived in France in October 1943 to establish the IX Fighter Command, he was ready. In the absence of any prewar tactical doctrine, he spent the spring before D-Day straining to develop a fighter force to support Lieutenant General Omar Bradley’s First U.S. Army in France. He did a masterful job, and his flyers rendered great aid to American ground troops after D-Day. In the heyday of summer campaigning in 1944, he and Bradley enjoyed a close friendship. Years later the ground general remembered Quesada as a “young, imaginative officer unencumbered by the prejudices of so many of his air seniors regarding the prosecution of the war.”39

To be sure, not everyone liked Quesada. At times, he was egotistical and petty, at other moments he exercised poor judgment and little tact or patience. But he was usually fair with subordinates, and always had the courage of his convictions. As one former staffer put it, “His friends liked to say he had a strong personality; his enemies said he was a son-of-a-bitch of the first order.” Prima donna or prophet? Pete Quesada was probably a little of both. He probably needed both qualities to carry the torch of tactical air power at mid-century.40

From June 1944 to April 1945 his command, then known as the IX Tactical Air Command, was responsible for most of the major innovations in the tactical air war. His men designed the complicated signals system required for effective close support. His fighter groups developed the standard operating procedures for both bomb selection and fuse length. His fighter-control squadrons were the first to direct small planes on blind-bombing missions near the front lines. His training programs taught the pilots of other commands the complexities of dive-bombing. More often than not, when tactical precepts evolved—whether from changes in weapons, from German defensive measures, or from ground force requirements—Quesada and the IX Tactical Air Command played a leading role. Other units made contributions, but none were as old, big, or influential as Quesada’s command. Major General O. P. Weyland, the wartime leader of the XIX Tactical Air Command and himself instrumental in the tactical air war, believed that most other tactical air commands “pretty much pattern themselves after the IX TAC, and I’m sure we operate much like them, too.”41

Quesada’s achievements made him the Air Force’s leading expert on tactical air power after the war. Predictably, he became the first commander of the Tactical Air Command in 1947. There, he developed liaisons with ground commands and worked to preserve the tactical lessons of the war. He became increasingly frustrated in this role, however, as the Air Staff in Washington pulled more and more resources from TAC, only to allocate them to SAC instead. In 1948, his superiors removed him from TAC and swiftly gutted the command of its operational units. While working a series of difficult desk jobs, Quesada became a private critic of the trend away from close air support. He soon realized that his career was at a dead end, and in 1951 he retired from the Air Force a lieutenant general. He was forty-seven years old, he was the foremost tactical-air-power expert in the United States, and he was gone.

Big bombers made important, even critical, contributions in World War II, but this is the story of another air war, one which was waged with as much intensity as the bomber offensive, if not more, and one which has been in large part ignored in air-power histories. Since that war, the Air Force has grappled with the proper balance of its strategic and tactical forces while the Army of necessity has struggled to meet its own aviation needs. In 1991, as the Cold War faded into history and the Persian Gulf War ended, Secretary of the Air Force Donald Rice announced a sweeping reorganization of his service. Both the Strategic and Tactical Air Commands were eliminated, and all combat aircraft were placed under a new Air Combat Command. “Desert Storm demonstrated that the line between strategic and tactical air power has become blurred,” his report announced to the world. “The organization needs to catch up.”42

For forty-five years after World War II, Pete Quesada could have told anyone the same thing. The sad fact was that too few were willing to listen.



Chapter One
Unusual, Offbeat Assignments

[image: Image]

WASHINGTON, D.C. 11 JUNE 1924. AFTERNOON. Twenty-year old Elwood R. Quesada gently rowed a small boat across the Tidal Basin. The little estuary of the Potomac was a popular swimming hole in Washington, and Quesada had snared a summer job as a lifeguard. It paid poorly, but the work was easy and the sights were good. The roaring twenties were at high tide, and the capital was awash with speakeasies, movie houses, dance halls, and flappers. With each passing year the Great War had faded ever more from memory, and now the days drifted by to the age-old beat of summer. All in all, it was a good time to be young.

The rowboat rocked when a swimmer climbed aboard without warning. “What the hell are you doing?” Quesada demanded, “I’m working.”1

The stranger only smiled and whipped the water from his face. “What are you going to do next year?” he asked.

The man and his question perplexed Quesada. “I’ll be a sophomore at Maryland,” he replied at last.

“I know, but how about joining the Air Service instead?”

Millard “Tiny” Harmon then pitched his proposal. He was a full-time Army pilot stationed at Washington’s Bolling Air Field and a part-time football referee. The previous fall he had worked a game between perennial power Penn State and a hapless Maryland team quarterbacked by Quesada. Maryland squeezed out an upset win that autumn day, Quesada became a brief hero, and Harmon remembered. To grab attention and attract stout recruits, the Air Service had for a few years sponsored its own team at Brooks Field, the Army’s primary flight school in San Antonio. The military had chafed under tight budgets since World War I, and approving publicity and reliable enlistees were two ways to weather the lean years. Harmon figured Quesada could not only help the team but also pass the flight course. “Why don’t you come over to Bolling tomorrow?” Harmon concluded. “We’ll go for a fly and see what you think.”

It was an odd way to entice enlistment, but the proposition intrigued Quesada. The idea buzzed about in his head for the rest of the day and into the evening. Until then, he and an older brother and sister had enjoyed a mildly affluent youth at the dawn of America’s century. The only rough period came in 1914 when his parents, a Spanish banker and a naturalized Irish immigrant, divorced. Theirs was an amicable rift, and Lope Lopez Quesada continued to provide for Helen Quesada and his children. Still, such events bred trauma, and after the split Quesada rarely saw his father and did not even know when he died, remembering only that it was in the 1930s.

Save that, the years had sped by in Washington public schools and at Wyoming Seminary Preparatory in Pennsylvania. The quiet life of study held little interest for him, and sports, fishing, and swimming filled school afternoons and the glorious days of vacation. John Sirica, who later gained fame as the “Watergate” trial judge, was a steadfast chum. Together, they passed through the glory of youth not predisposed to reflection or introspection. Yet, by 1924 the morrow called. “I had,” Quesada remembered in the twilight of his life, “grown apprehensive about the future.”

It was now night, and the idea of flight absorbed Quesada as he lay in bed. He recalled running into the streets as a kid to watch novel flying contraptions cross the sky. Although he did not know it then, those planes were the Army’s first aircraft, operating from a makeshift field in College Park, Maryland, and piloted by the Signal Corps’s first flight instructors, Tommy Milling and Hap Arnold. Later as a teenager Quesada had been enthralled by the tales of Eddie Rickenbacker and the Red Baron, but so had tens and perhaps hundreds of thousands of other boys. As he tossed and turned in the darkness, Quesada knew he had never harbored deep dreams of being a pilot. Besides, his mother would surely be against such shenanigans. Why, then, did Harmon’s invitation captivate him into the dawn?2

Morning saved him at last. With curiosity as his guide, he went to Bolling Field, telling his mother he was going to the beach and would return by dinner. It was a great day to fly the fragile canvas contraptions of the era. A little before noon, Harmon and Quesada hopped into a plane, faced into a mild breeze, and climbed into the sky. Piloting the ship straight and level, Harmon offered few words and let the experience of flight speak its own language. The simple trip charmed Quesada and delighted his youthful sense of adventure. When Harmon rolled the plane to a stop, Quesada walked to the base hangar and signed enlistment papers. In another forty-eight hours he left for Texas.

As the train moved down through the Carolinas and across the deep South toward San Antonio, Quesada must have reflected on the strange turn of events. Little in his early years had foreshadowed his recruitment into the military. His family had scant history as Americans and even less tradition of military service. He had never thought to attend a service academy. He did not share that sense of destiny and mission which, from a young age, drove so many other military leaders. Mostly, a confluence of time and circumstance made for his enlistment. It was an accident. Like others attracted to the nation’s air arm in the 1920s, Quesada was exhilarated by flying; that became reason enough to join the Army. Like them, he was a breed apart from the conservative line and staff officers who dominated the old military. Yet, in a way, the very unorthodoxy of his enlistment presaged his later military accomplishments.

While his passenger car rolled over the Sabine River and into Texas, Quesada’s thoughts were interrupted only by intermittent conversations with three other recruits. When he introduced himself as Elwood Richard Quesada, one of them declared: “The hell with that, you’re Pete!” Quesada carried the nickname until the day he died. Silent again as the train rumbled through Houston, the four boys wondered what lay ahead.

To a degree, Quesada was right: the Air Service did offer a brand of heroic adventure. But for its pilots the 1920s were a far cry from the exotic life promised by the Great War. Existence was austere, and the air arm was locked in a struggle for its very being in an age of neglect and interservice rivalry.

Less than a decade before, World War I had hinted of great things for military aviation. In a period of only three years the Army’s air arm had grown from 1,200 men and a couple of hundred planes to over 190,000 men and some 11,000 aircraft. Young air pioneers, usually in their twenties or thirties, moved up through the ranks with meteoric speed. Benjamin Foulois and Billy Mitchell were mere captains in 1916; both wore stars by 1918. Hap Arnold was embarrassed when promoted to colonel at twenty-eight. The commander of the Ninety-first Aero Squadron rose from private to major in a year.3

These dramatic increases in size and rises in seniority reflected a new place for air power in both the panoply of weaponry and the organization of war. Early in World War I, planes were used mainly for observation and air-to-air combat. Three years of weary trench fighting encouraged a bolder role for aircraft by 1917, however, and some began advocating aerial bombardment to break the stalemate. In the summer of 1918, Brigadier General Billy Mitchell led bomber strikes in the Saint-Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne offensives. Although the results were ambiguous, the experiments worked well enough to foster optimism among flyers.

On top of that, pilots won a small measure of autonomy from the broader Army with the creation of the Air Service, which freed them from Signal Corps control. Quasi-independence for pilots proved a bit unorthodox, highly problematic, and absolutely necessary—for if no one knew how best to employ air power, everyone agreed that it had ceased to be a pure auxiliary service. With growth, promotions, new roles, and their own organization, pilots had every reason for confidence in the fall of 1918.4

Then the trouble began. Abruptly and without warning, Germany capitulated in November 1918 before bombardment could be adequately evaluated as a war tool. Flyers nonetheless believed that bombs were the key to their future, and they insisted that peacetime doctrine reflect this new dimension of air power. Ground officers begged to differ. Most of them urged a more traditional employment of planes, some even supporting a move to return the Air Service to the Signal Corps now that the national emergency had passed. Flyers vigorously opposed such a move, fighting to maintain some freedom to advance their notions of air power. To buttress their arguments, they pointed to the British, who had granted the Royal Air Force full autonomy from the British Army, and to Italian air theorist Giulio Douchet, who had maintained that air power alone could bring an adversary to its knees. In the years before Quesada enlisted, these opposing viewpoints fostered a great debate in the Army over air-power doctrine and military organization.

Demobilization only exacerbated the feud. Slogans like “Bring the Boys Home” reflected a strong national desire to shrink the military, and the Army experienced spectacular reductions in expenditures and manpower. In the proud American tradition of citizen-soldiers, most of those discharged happily returned to civilian life. But not the pilots. The Air Service had attracted a different type of man, certainly patriotic but also addicted to flight. Pioneers by disposition, innovators by mentality, and adventurers by temperament, they disliked the quiet life and had created an unusually strong esprit de corps within the Air Service. With little chance of an aviation career outside the military, they wanted to remain in uniform. Instead, they were discharged by the tens of thousands. The few that did manage to stay in the Army soon found their pay returned to prewar levels and in line with that of ground officers. When peacetime flying proved only marginally safer than wartime service, pilots declared that the General Staff did not fathom life in the air. “They wouldn’t admit there was even such a thing as air power,” one World War II air general bitterly remembered.5

Increasingly frustrated, flyers in the early 1920s circumvented the chain of command and carried their doctrine of bombardment and their case for a separate service to Congress and the American public. Brigadier General Billy Mitchell led this campaign, becoming an increasingly vocal critic of the General Staff and its attitudes toward air power. By mid-decade he had become overtly insubordinate, and the Army leadership court-martialed him in a very public and divisive proceeding.

Like most enduring debates, both sides had legitimate grounds for argument. On one hand, infantry, artillery, and cavalry officers were justly skeptical of bold claims that air power could win wars alone, without ground action. On the other hand, flyers rightly disdained the Army’s narrow and conservative view in the face of the new technology of flight. Pilots held the General Staff in particular contempt, for the Army leadership had allowed the air arm to fall to a pathetic force level of just 396 modern, serviceable aircraft by 1924. Whatever else was true in this complicated dispute, this much was undeniable: the Air Service, being almost entirely a child of the Great War, suffered more than other Army branches in the postwar years.6

It had been quite a fall since the glory days of the Saint-Mihiel and Meuse-Argonne offensives. By the mid-1920s, the feud over doctrine and organization was inexorably entrenched in the institutions and culture of the Army. Men on the ground and in the air refused to subordinate or even accommodate their differing views on the future of war. In time, the dispute influenced everything about the military. For Pete Quesada, the fracas would affect his entire life.7

Quesada was, of course, oblivious to all that as his train rolled to a stop in San Antonio. He had only seen the novel winged machines as a boy and read of the wartime exploits of colorful aces as a teenager. He arrived at Brooks Field that summer, at the front end of his twentieth year, anxious to play some football and looking forward to flight instruction. If all went well, he would spend five months in the preliminary flight training course at Brooks and then move on to any number of fields for advanced training in pursuit, attack, or bombardment aviation.

Its status as the air arm’s primary flight school had spared Brooks Field the decay that befell most military installations after the war. In fact, the post had even managed to grow. There was ample housing, sixteen hangars, and numerous equipment and sports facilities. Together, the buildings bordered a huge grass pasture where the wheels of planes had etched dirt runways into the earth. In the middle of the field a huge barn stood empty, a homestead relic from a bygone era. But Brooks was no frontier outpost. Although it was a world away from cosmopolitan Washington, the base’s proximity to San Antonio supplied adequate social diversions.8

The dilapidated Curtiss “Jennies” that served as aircraft trainers punctured the illusion of a modern base. Cadets disparaged the slight biplanes. The cockpit was sparse; the fuselage was merely a canvas tarp tacked tautly to a wooden frame. Even under ideal conditions the birds barely reached 80 miles per hour. They were relics from the last war, and they looked like it.9

Quesada and his classmates began their educational program after three days of physicals and paperwork. Those recruits with no military experience—the bulk of the class—underwent an abbreviated basic training and spent the early weeks in drill. Luckily for some, football practice was an excused absence and players spent as much time on the gridiron as possible, managing to “march around damn little.” But if the football workouts were numerous, they were not very effective. That fall, the team won just one game and Harmon’s brainchild attempt to draw favorable attention to the Air Service ended in almost comic anticlimax.10

Almost. Quesada broke a leg playing against the University of Texas. With ground instruction nearing completion and actual flying slated to begin in days, the accident could not have come at a worse time. He watched helplessly as his classmates took their initial instruction in the Jennies. In the following weeks his spirits fell, and even the ground-school work became a struggle. He soon appeared to be one of the early washouts of the class. When at last the cast came off seven weeks later, Quesada’s fellow cadets had completed nearly half their instruction in the air.

A flight instructor rescued Quesada from his predicament. First Lieutenant Nathan Twining, a former football star at West Point, liked Quesada and offered to help the cadet make up lost time. Together, the two remained at Brooks over the Christmas holiday for a crash course in flying. Day One was exciting. “After we drew helmets, goggles, and leather flight coats from the quartermaster,” Quesada recalled, “Nate headed straight to the fastest Jenny. He got in the front seat and explained all the instruments to me and then told the ground crew to swing the propeller.” Sputtering, the engine quickly came alive. Twining taxied to the end of the field. As they turned into a stout Texas breeze, Quesada’s heartbeat quickened.11

For all cadets, the first lesson marked a significant rite of passage and was always a challenge. Quesada was no different. As soon as he grasped the controls, the plane banked violently to the left and pitched steeply downward. But within ten minutes Quesada managed straight and level flight, and in another twenty minutes he was executing constant-altitude turns. Sixty minutes after taking off, Quesada made his first assisted landing.

He learned quickly in the fourteen days he and Nate Twining flew above San Antonio. He became proficient in takeoffs, landings, figure eights, spirals, and other maneuvers. He soloed after six hours of instruction. His performance steadily impressed Twining, who years later became the Air Force Chief of Staff. In time, the two forged a friendship, foretelling Quesada’s uncanny knack for forming important associations. When his classmates reconvened after the New Year, Quesada had made good the time lost after his fall and was on schedule to finish with the rest of the group. It had been a productive holiday break.12

In February of 1925 Quesada graduated from primary flight school and received orders to attend the half-year pursuit course at Kelly Field, just across town. The planes there were sleek and quick compared to the Jenny. To the cadets, the Sopwith SE-5 and Boeing VE-9 seemed to gallop across the sky with their large engines. Like most performance planes, however, these birds were temperamental. Limited visibility, high wing loading, and finicky flight characteristics all made for poor handling. They were not as forgiving as the Jennies. Still, Quesada thought the plane had “more pizzazz and zip than anything, and, in a perverse kind of way, was a delight to fly.”13

The flying curriculum at Kelly sought to produce confident, accurate flyers with quick and keen judgement. In the early months, the students practiced formation flying, stunting, and simulated combat with camera guns. To produce well-rounded pilots, they also rehearsed simple observation tactics and basic elements of bombing. After covering the fundamentals, the class finally turned to gunnery practice with live ammunition.

To break the monotony and rigor of training, Quesada joined with other cadets and some instructors to form a baseball team in a San Antonio city league. They were a ragtag lot, but natural ability made up for any lack of practice and the squad finished toward the top of the standings. They also played a couple of exhibitions with the St. Louis Cardinals, who took their spring training in the area. Though they did not win a game from the pros, the contests did help promote a camaraderie among teachers and students.

Thomas White, like Twining an instructor and future Air Force Chief of Staff, became Quesada’s lifelong friend. Another instructor later headed the Civil Aviation Authority in the 1930s, and two more served under Quesada in North Africa and France during World War II. Although Quesada did not know him well, Charles Lindbergh was at Kelly Field as well. In fact, of the twenty men who graduated there in that year, eight held positions of authority during World War II. The Air Service in the 1920s was a small fraternity of men, and anyone then serving was certain to cross paths with many of his brothers who were destined for prominence in the sky.14

As a grand finale to their training, the cadets staged a gunnery tournament on Galveston Island in July. Each day for a week they lifted into the air and chased a drone towed across the horizon by another plane. Bullet holes in the target determined each flyer’s score. It may have been a primitive method, but in 1925 it was the best way to teach the art of aerial warfare. Quesada finished fifth in the competition, hardly outstanding but quite respectable.

He also discovered the hazards of early aviation as he returned from the Texas coast on 14 July. Bucking a strong head wind, his plane ran too hard for too long; eventually the radiator water boiled away and the engine failed. Spiraling downward, the craft hit telegraph wires and slammed against a large oak tree before thumping to the hard ground. Thrown from the wreck somewhere between the wires and the tree, Quesada escaped serious injury, though superficial wounds badly bloodied his face. After clearing his head, he hiked a few miles to the small town of Vienna and hopped a ride to San Antonio, leaving behind a thoroughly wrecked aircraft.15

This was the first of eight crackups for Quesada. Some, like this earliest accident, were serious. Others were not, like the next one just a month later as training drew to a close. In that incident, Quesada moved too swiftly down the taxiway and “ran up the ass of the commander’s

plane.” Still, Quesada developed a reputation as a marvelous pilot. Whether in peace or war, flying was exceedingly dangerous in those early years, and a crash here or there did not end a career. Instead, the constant risk of flying helped to separate pilots from ground officers and contributed to a distinct culture of airmen, which fueled the interservice tensions dating from the Great War.16

Continuing budget and manpower constraints meant that Quesada did not receive a regular commission after his advanced training. Officer slots were extremely limited, and only those cadets with prior military service remained on active duty following graduation. Although many thought it was irresponsible to first recruit and then discharge pilots, Quesada was only mildly disappointed as he left Kelly Field in the fall of 1925. He had come to Texas on a whim anyway. The experience had offered exposure to a different part of the nation, new friends, and the chance to fly. That was enough for now.

Besides, Quesada thought, a new adventure lay ahead. His baseball play had impressed the St. Louis Cardinals, and the day after graduating from Kelly he left for a tryout with the club. To his surprise, he and one other hopeful, Dizzy Dean, made the team. It was the start of a Hall of Fame career for Dean and one of life’s small byways for Quesada, who did not perform well enough to predict a distinguished baseball career. After three weeks he returned his $1000.00 signing bonus to the manager, Branch Rickey, and left the team of his own accord. “I’d have just ended up running a poolroom in Peoria,” Quesada mused years later, “like most baseball players that didn’t make the grade.”17

Next he traveled to Florida, where his older brother Buddy ran a charter fishing service, but within months he grew restless with that life, too. He then took a job with the Criminal Investigation Division of the Treasury Department. He liked working out of its Detroit office in the fall of 1926. “It was great fun, and sometimes I got to carry a tommy gun.” He even participated in one sting operation involving local bootleggers with connections to Al Capone’s Chicago syndicate.18

But Quesada missed the Air Service. One Saturday in early December he wandered over to Selfridge Field, an Army installation just outside Detroit. From the perimeter fence, Quesada noticed a familiar face across the landing area. Tommy White saw Quesada at the same time and trotted over. After back-slapping greetings, they agreed to meet that night with Nathan Twining, who was also at Selfridge. The three caught up on lost time, and by evening’s end Quesada promised to return the next Saturday for a ride in a Curtiss PW-8, the air arm’s newest pursuit plane. Other visits followed, and in the spring of 1927 Quesada resolved to return to the air arm one way or another.19

He could not have known it, but events in Washington and within the Army were turning in the air arm’s favor and conspiring to help Quesada back into uniform. Congress had finally awakened to dangerous deficiencies in Americas air arm and, with broad political support, had passed the Air Corps Act of 1926. The law changed the name of the Air Service to the Air Corps and called for a twofold increase in manpower and a net addition of 1,800 planes by 1932. More than a mere blueprint for growth, the law also gave the Air Corps a greater degree of autonomy from the General Staff, a goal of pilots since the Great War. Although they would remain a part of the Army, flyers nevertheless gained direct access to political power with a new Assistant Secretary of War for Air. The legislation portended an ambitious program, and the nation poured some $100 million into aviation through the plan. As the aerial exploits of Charles Lindbergh and others captivated the nation, the expansion program propelled air-arm morale to heights not reached since the heyday of the war. In fact, the late 1920s were the best days for flyers since they had left a smoldering France ten years before.20

Quesada was one of the earliest applicants for the first “Army Air Corps Competitive Examination” to fill the new officer vacancies. He quit his job, moved back to his mother’s house in Washington, D.C., and mapped out an education regimen. He studied hard, enrolling in a preparatory course at nearby Emerson Technical School to buttress his chances. Early on 24 March, about a hundred men arrived at the War Department Building to vie for eighteen Air Corps commissions. Quesada finished the exam confident of his showing, and ten days later his name was among the successful candidates. In April 1927, he donned again the cloth of an Army pilot.21

Quesada’s first assignment was the engineering billet at Bolling Field, site of his original airplane ride with Tiny Harmon. Such jobs were not taxing in peacetime, especially at Bolling, where a choice array of aircraft provided service for Washington’s dignitaries and not much else. To fill the days Quesada often did woodwork in the shops and, in a time before strict rules governed the use of equipment, he spent many an afternoon and most weekends flying assorted planes above Washington. He reveled in the machines, mastering the Army’s first all-steel monoplanes and still others fitted with water-cooled engines. Years later, Quesada believed that his duty at Bolling was “the best job I ever had in my life. I’ll never forget it, I was in seventh heaven.”22

He especially liked two Loening Amphibians, nicknamed “air yachts.” Their bulky hulls and inverted Liberty engines made them difficult to fly, which only enticed the young engineering officer. Using the Potomac River as his airstrip, he flew them every chance he got and soon earned a reputation as a junior officer with flying talent. Captain Ira Eaker, then one of the best-known pilots in the service and later an important general in his own right, came to “like Quesada’s spirit, his pleasing personality, and his enthusiasm for flying.” Even Quesada’s third wreck, on 15 March 1928, failed to dim his growing status as a good pilot.23

Facility in flying was crucial to any air officer in those years. The fragile craft made piloting difficult under the best of circumstances, and many commanders regarded “air skills” as the most important check in a pilot’s officer efficiency rating. The chief of the Air Corps, Major General James Fechet, was not a good pilot himself and particularly admired adept flyers. For young airmen like Quesada, expertise in the air could create opportunities and open new vistas. Though Quesada’s job was not professionally demanding, it did offer him a chance to fly the newest planes and nurture important skills.

His penchant for the amphibious Loenings led to his participation in a dramatic rescue effort soon after he crashed into the Bolling turf. In early May, the German embassy in Washington asked the Air Corps to help recover an aircraft that had been used in an attempted east-to-west crossing of the Atlantic and that was now stranded on Greely Island. The tiny island off the Labrador coast was a long way from Bolling, and conditions in the North Atlantic would surely work against any attempt to reach the plane. Yet Fechet, sensing a chance to show off his rejuvenated air arm, agreed and hastily organized an expedition using the two air yachts.24

Fechet, Ira Eaker, First Lieutenant Sandy Fairchild, and Fred Melchoer, a German representative of the Bremen aircraft manufacturer, took off from Washington on Saturday 11 May. Making good progress, they reached St. John’s, New Brunswick, by nightfall. Fairchild developed appendicitis on Sunday morning, however, and the expedition stalled. Eaker reminded Fechet that Quesada “had more experience with the amphibian than anyone” and suggested he be brought up. Fechet concurred. Quesada left Washington for St. John’s on the morning of the thirteenth, and met the rescue expedition that night.25

The next day the reconstituted party resumed the flight north. Eaker, with Melchoer, flew the lead plane while Quesada, with Fechet, navigated off his wing. Everybody expected the weather to turn sour, and it did over the Bay of Fundy. “The weather got bad, then it got worse, and then it got extremely bad,” Quesada recalled. By 1400 hours, the four men abandoned hope of reaching their refueling stop at Pictou, Nova Scotia, and set down at South Maitland. An hour later a gale-force wind convinced them to find better refuge. Eaker managed to get airborne amid the whitecaps, but Quesada had trouble with the growing swells. The Bay of Fundy has one of the world’s greatest tidal differentials and, as Quesada and Fechet struggled against the brewing storm, the tide swept out to sea, stranding the two men and their plane on a sand bar.

Borrowing a shovel from a local fisherman, the general and the lieutenant dug the amphibian out of the sand and extended her landing gear. Quesada carefully taxied the groaning Loening out of its hole and took off. With better weather they reached Pictou by evening. Eaker was not there, however, and the two spent a restless night amid the gear of a ship’s store worried about the other plane.

On Tuesday Quesada patched the damaged plane. He spent most of the day on his back sewing up the ripped canvas hull. General Fechet sat beside him, huddled against the cold and searching the sky for signs of Eaker. Basic repairs were complete by dusk, and Fechet resolved to press on to Greely Island the next day. Eaker, he sadly concluded, was probably dead.

Fred Melchoer strolled into the small village at 0300 hours on Wednesday. “Where have you been?” Quesada asked. “Where the hell is Ira?” barked Fechet. “We landed in the hills,” the German replied.

The storm had forced Eaker down on top of a gentle slope the previous day. On Tuesday he and Melchoer had worked to lighten their craft and construct a makeshift ramp at the foot of the rise to catapult the plane into the air. When they had finished, Melchoer came to town to find Fechet and Quesada. Now, on Wednesday, the men at Pictou anxiously waited for Eaker. At 1500 hours Eaker flew out of the misty sky, and the trip resumed once again.26

At last the men reached Greek Island and the Bremen plane. All told, the journey took nearly a week of frantic and dangerous flying. Although they failed to salvage the stranded craft, when the four men returned to Bolling Field on 25 May they were greeted by a throng of reporters. In the following days, newspapers carried front-page accounts of the daring flight. Just as Fechet had hoped, the rescue had garnered important publicity for the air arm, and no doubt the public show of support added to the flyers’ good morale in the late 1920s.

For Pete Quesada the Bremen plane rescue was an introduction into the power circles of the Army. He had spent whole days alone with the ranking member of the Air Corps, and he had made the most of it. Fechet, in Ira Eaker’s estimation, developed “a marked preference for the young Quesada” after the flight. Among the air arm’s small cadre of officers, exposure to senior leaders often shaped careers, and Quesada recognized the importance of this. “There I was, barely out of flight school, and spending a week in close quarters with the Chief of the Air Corps!”27

A few months later Quesada became Fechet’s flying aide. For almost a year the two winged across the country in a state-of-the-art two-seat pursuit ship, inspecting various Air Corps bases. A fourth crash outside Worcester, Massachusetts—this one with Fechet in the passenger seat—failed to temper the chief’s confidence in Quesada. Hours spent crowded together in a tiny cockpit created an uncommon bond between a general and a second lieutenant. In 1948, as Fechet lay dying in a Washington hospital, Eaker urged Quesada to visit the “old man” because “you and I owe him a great deal, which we should never forget.” Quesada needed no prompting. “Don’t think for a moment,” he wrote Eaker, “that I do not recognize the great debt that is owed to good old General Fechet. I am more grateful to him than I think I could ever express.”28

In late 1928, Eaker conceived an experiment to test the feasibility of midair refueling and the mechanical endurance of aircraft. With Carl “Tooey” Spaatz, then a highly-respected major, and later the ranking American airman in World War II in Europe, he planned a marathon flight circling southern California. In part because Eaker liked Quesada, and in part to garner Fechet’s support for the trial, Eaker and Spaatz asked Quesada to serve on the crew. “Maybe,” Eaker remembered telling Spaatz, “we will have a better chance to get the thing approved with the Chief if we picked his aide.” Fechet wholeheartedly sanctioned the flight, and in late December Spaatz, Eaker, Quesada, First Lieutenant Harry Halverson, and Sergeant Roy Hooe left Washington for Los Angeles in a modified Fokker trimotor dubbed the Question Mark.29

The flight west took three days. The four officers were quartered in a single large room in Atlanta at the end of the first day. Before bed, Quesada knelt in prayer, a habit from his Catholic upbringing that touched the others. “He did not allow our presence to prevent him from showing his religious teaching and conviction,” Eaker recalled. “I know this courage in the youngster impressed us all very much.” Throughout his career, Quesada again and again strongly displayed the courage of his convictions.30

At 0726 hours on the first day of 1929 the Question Mark climbed away from a Van Nuys airport and, with five men aboard, lifted heavily into the air. A refueling plane followed shortly thereafter and positioned itself twelve feet above and slightly ahead of the experimental ship. At 0815 hours the tanker played a line to the outstretched arm of Spaatz, who grabbed the hose and fed 100 gallons of gas to the Question Mark in a delicate and primitive maneuver. “Lieutenants Woodring and Strickland lowered the hose from the fuselage,” remembered the refueling plane pilot, “and Major Spaatz fit it into the funnel. My only signals came from Woodring by a rope attached to my arm. One long pull meant slow up, two pulls, speed up. A constant jiggle meant the refueling was over.”31

A second refueling that day took place directly above a packed California-Georgia Tech Rose Bowl game, a reminder of the great potential for publicity in the golden age of flight. After taking on an additional 255 gallons and some oil, the Question Mark banked toward San Diego, where it spent the night circling Rockwell Field.32

So it went for days, the four pilots rotating at the controls, shuttling between Los Angeles and San Diego. Messages written on the sides of refueling planes, chalked on a blackboard, or simply dropped to the ground served as a crude communications system. With each passing hour, the trial gained more attention. The Question Mark flyers surpassed the U.S. record for refueled flight at the thirty-eighth hour, the world record for sustained flight by a heavier-than-air craft at the sixty-fifth hour, and the record for continuous flight at the one hundred eleventh hour.33

Soon, fan mail reached the crew with their food, and the Air Corps rushed to print special stationery so the flyers might respond in style. “We are pleased with the mail we are getting,” a buoyant Spaatz wrote on the fifth day, “especially Lieutenant Quesada, who is kept busy answering fan letters.” One note Quesada wrote to his mother was published in the Los Angeles Examiner. “We are going strong is what I mean. No trouble at all…. Now I will have something to bounce off Lindy [Charles Lindbergh] whenever he boasts too much about that little hop he made.”34
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